STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Newberry County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2018-UP-439 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed December 5, 2018)

2015-GS-36-0133

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THEIA DARION MCARDLE,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO *2019-000431*

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

MAR 18 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

QUESTION PRESENTED

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial judge's denial of petitioner's directed verdict motion on the homicide by child abuse charge because the state failed to present sufficient direct or substantive circumstantial evidence proving guilt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 2, 2015, the Newberry County Grand Jury indicted petitioner for homicide by child abuse. R. 1082 - 1083. On April 4-8, 2016, petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy Jr., and a jury.

Charles Verner represented petitioner, and Solicitor David Stumbo and Assistant Solicitor Taylor Daniel represented the State. The jury found petitioner guilty as charged. The trial court sentenced petitioner to thirty years imprisonment.

Petitioner appealed, but the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's conviction and sentence. See State v. Theia Darion McArdle, Unpublished Opinion No. 2018-UP-439 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 5, 2018). App. 1-2. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on December 20, 2018. App. 3-19. On February 15, 2019, the Petition for Rehearing was denied by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. App. 20.

This petition for writ of certiorari requesting review of the South Carolina Court of Appeals' decision in the case follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial judge's denial of petitioner's directed verdict motion on the homicide by child abuse charge because the state failed to present sufficient direct or substantive circumstantial evidence proving guilt.

In the case at bar, there was insufficient evidence tending to prove that petitioner was guilty of homicide by child abuse because petitioner was working and not alone with the minor during the three hour window of time (from 10:30 pm on December 29, 2014 to 1:30 a.m. on December 30, 2014) during which time the fatal head injuries were inflicted upon the minor, and petitioner was unaware that the head injuries existed.

At 1:38 a.m. on December 30, 2014, petitioner and her boyfriend Richard Bowman brought petitioner's three-year-old son (hereinafter referred to as the Minor) to the Newberry Hospital Emergency Room. The Minor was pronounced dead at 2:06 a.m. on that same date. R. 28, lines 4-18; R. 40, lines 6- p. 42, l. 7; R. 78, lines 1-9. It was determined that three or four different blows to the minor's head could have been fatal and that the minor had been dead for two hours or less before the Minor was brought to the hospital. The Minor died from extensive head trauma. R. 79, lines 5-23; R. 81, lines 16-p. 82, l. 23; R. 734, l. 2- p. 738, l. 12; R. 724, lines 16-23; R. 739, l. 15-19, R. 846, l. 6- 24. Only petitioner and boyfriend Bowman were with the Minor during December 29-30, 2014. At the close of the state's case, the defense moved for a directed verdict of acquittal arguing that the state had failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that petitioner had caused the head injuries to the Minor and specifically that Bowman never testified that petitioner hit the Minor within the three-hour window of opportunity that the state's medical experts had identified or that petitioner knew about the head injuries and their severity, failed to seek medical treatment. R. 801, l. 25 - 824, l. 23.

On appeal, petitioner raised the following issue:

The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in appellant's favor where the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant committed homicide by child abuse under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-585(A)(1).

This Court issued the following opinion:

PER CURIAM: Affirmed pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR, and the following authorities: *State v. Bailey*, 386 S.C. 39, 44 626 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2006) (“On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State.”); S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-85(A)(1)(2015) (“A person guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person... causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.”); *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (“If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.”); *State v. Nesmith*, 213 S.C. 60, 67 48 S.E.2d 595, 598 (1948) (“Direct evidence is testimony, which if believed, tends directly to prove a fact in issue. Circumstantial evidence on the other hand, while not tending directly to prove a fact in issue[,] gives rise to a legal inference that such a fact does exist.”).

However, this Court might have overlooked the fact that petitioner was not alone with the minor during the three-hour window of time in which the injuries were inflicted. Bowman and petitioner were the only adults with the minor on December 29-30, 2014. R. 534, l. 20-p. 544, l. 24. Here, the state alleged that petitioner either inflicted the fatal blunt force trauma to the Minor's head or knew that the Minor had suffered a serious head injury and failed to seek medical attention. The evidence adduced at trial supports neither of these theories. Expert medical testimony unanimously established that the Minor would have lived - at most - an hour after the blunt force trauma to the head. Dr. Holaday testified that he believed that the Minor had been dead for - at most - two hours before being brought to the emergency room. The medical evidence establishes that the earliest that the Minor could have been killed was 10:35 p.m. All of the evidence at trial suggests that petitioner was in Spartanburg at 10:35 p.m. and did not return home until after 11:00 p.m. Moreover,

Bowman never testified that petitioner struck the Minor in the head within the three-hour time frame identified by the medical experts. Bowman also never testified that petitioner was alone with Minor in this time period.

Petitioner testified that she worked as a prostitute and that on December 29, 2014, she met two clients. The first was a regular client in Spartanburg. They met at a hotel off of I-26. Bowman was alone with the Minor from 8:35 p.m. until 11:00 p.m. The second client was the Newberry "John." She testified that when she returned from the Spartanburg client, she hurriedly cleaned off to prepare to go Newberry and that the Minor appeared to be asleep. Bowman put the Minor in the car seat and it never occurred to her that the Minor might be seriously injured. Her biggest point of deviation from Bowman's version of events was that she stated she was not home when the Minor threw up after dinner. Thirty to forty minutes after leaving, petitioner returned unexpectedly to their residence with a stray cat. She stayed only a few minutes to drop off the cat and did not return until after 11:00 p.m. The Minor did not wake up during petitioner's brief return. Bowman was again alone with Minor from around 8:00 p.m. until after 11:00 p.m. R. 895-995.

No substantial circumstantial evidence exists that established that petitioner fatally injured minor or that the petitioner knew that the Minor was being struck about the head by Bowman. According to Bowman's testimony, petitioner struck the Minor everywhere except the about the head. The evidence presented by the State was that the injury to the Minor occurred after 10:35 p.m. on December 29, 2014, and before 1:35 a.m. on December 30, 2014. During this time, petitioner was never alone with the Minor and the only witness to the events, Richard Bowman, never testified that petitioner struck Minor on the head. In fact, evidence showed that the only person alone with the Minor during this time was Bowman. This is a substantial factual distinction from *Smith supra* and places petitioner's case "on all fours" with *Palmer supra*.

The disconnect between the medical evidence and the state's evidence implicating petitioner in the Minor's death mirrors the failure of proof in *State v. Palmer*, 413 S.C. 410, 776 S.E.2d 558 (2015) and *State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013). In *Hepburn*, the Supreme Court issued held that:

Every State witness placed Petitioner asleep at the time that the victim sustained the fatal injuries. While undoubtedly present at the scene, the only inference that can be drawn from the State's case is that one of the two co-defendants inflicted the victim's injuries, but not that Petitioner harmed the victim.

Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 440, 753 S.E.2d at 415.

In *Palmer*, the Supreme Court issued a directed verdict of acquittal for Palmer's boyfriend, Gorman, for homicide by child abuse while denying a directed verdict to Palmer for the same charge. 413 S.C. at 418, 776 S.E.2d at 562-563. The medical evidence narrowed "window of opportunity during which the fatal injury must have been inflicted to between 4:00 p.m. and 6:05 p.m." *Id.* at 420, 776 S.E.2d at 563.

Unlike in petitioner's case, both Palmer and Gorman were home during the window of opportunity and medical testimony suggested that the injuries to the deceased may not have been obvious to a layperson. *Id.* Out of the two defendants, only Gorman was ever alone with the deceased during the window of opportunity. *Id.* Furthermore, as with petitioner's case, the fatal blows to the deceased in *Palmer* had to have been inflicted immediately before the expression of symptoms.

Therefore, this Court found that there was sufficient evidence for a jury to conclude that Gorman beat the deceased during one of the two periods of time when she was alone with the deceased during the window of opportunity. *Id.* With respect to Palmer, there was no evidence that

he was ever alone with the deceased during the window of opportunity and, thus, a directed verdict of acquittal was merited. *Id.* at 421, 776 S.E.2d at 563.

Bowman's testimony simply cannot be reconciled with the medical evidence. In one of his few points of consistency, Bowman unfailingly testified that the Minor was conscious and able to respond to his questions until sometime after 12:20 a.m. on December 30th. R. 698, ll. 1-9.

Setting aside the fact that petitioner's slaps to the back of Minor's head could not account for the fatal injuries to the side and front of the Minor's skull, this incident – if it happened – was simply too far removed from the window of opportunity established by the medical evidence to be the cause of Minor's death. *See Palmer*, 413 S.C. at 421, 776 S.E.2d at 563.

Like in *Hepburn* and *Palmer*, the state's evidence against petitioner shows that, while she was present with Minor throughout the day, petitioner was never alone with the Minor during the window of opportunity for the fatal injuries. R. 556, l. 17 – 559, l. 19. Bowman was present whenever the Minor and petitioner were together. *Id.* Despite his seemingly best efforts, Bowman never identified – in all of his sundry versions of events – an injury that he saw petitioner inflict or order to be inflicted on the Minor that would be consistent with the uncontroverted medical evidence on the Minor's cause of death.

Accordingly, even “[a]dmitting as true every fact and circumstance relied on by the state to be true, without reference to whether it was competent or not, there is not sufficient evidence to warrant,” petitioner's conviction for homicide by child abuse. *State v. Turner*, 117 S.C. 470, 109 S.E.2d 119, 120 (1921) (granting a directed verdict in a murder conviction and holding that “[n]either the evidence nor the circumstances warrant [defendant's] conviction; while the whole case raised a suspicion, and a grave one at that, it does not warrant a verdict of guilty. The state

failed to connect [defendant] with the actual killing, or that he was present aiding and abetting at the time of the killing, or that he had anything to do with it at all, until after the killing occurred.”).

A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-85(A)(1).

In *State v. Smith*, 359 S.C. 481, 597 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court held there was sufficient evidence to uphold Smith’s convictions for homicide by child abuse and aiding and abetting homicide by child abuse. Smith and his girlfriend, Celeste Durant, had taken Durant’s two daughters on a trip to Myrtle Beach.

Durant claimed that the morning after they arrived at the beach she noticed that her younger daughter was “acting strangely.” 359 S.C. at 483, 597 S.E.2d at 889. The minor was sleepy, unsteady on her feet, and refused to eat. *Id.* Smith and Durant took minor to the hospital. Doctors determined that she had a fever and a CAT scan in Myrtle Beach did not show any head injury, only what appeared to be an old skull fracture. *Id.*, 597 S.E.2d at 890. After they left the hospital, the minor still was not eating and slept for entire trip home. She was put to bed around 4:00-5:00 pm on the night the family returned home.

When Durant went to check on minor later that night, she had blood coming out of her mouth. Smith attempted to perform CPR on the minor until EMS arrived. A CAT scan taken a day after the minor was admitted to the hospital revealed that minor had significant bleeding and swelling in her brain caused by a large skull fracture. Based on the minor’s injuries, doctors believed that she was killed as a result of “child abuse, this child was shaken and this child received trauma to the head.” *Id.* at 486, 597 S.E.2d at 891.

Based on the difference between the first CAT scan in Myrtle Beach and the second CAT scan doctors concluded that the fatal head injury occurred “within several hours of the first scan.” *Id.* at 485, 597 S.E.2d at 891. Durant told investigators that minor was never out of her sight while they were in Myrtle Beach and that minor was never left alone with Smith or anyone else. *Id.*

House keepers from the hotel where Smith, Durant, and her children stayed told police that the family never wanted their room cleaned during their stay and that most of the linens, all of the towels, and all of the trash were missing when the staff went to clean the room. *Id.* at 487, 597 S.E.2d at 892. Police also discovered that a sheet and a pillowcase from Durant’s house were missing. *Id.*

Smith appealed his conviction, in part, on the grounds that the trial court should have ordered a directed verdict of acquittal as there was “insufficient substantial circumstantial evidence presented by the State to allow the case to go to the jury, and his mere presence at the scene was insufficient to prove his guilt as a principal or as an aider or abettor.” *Id.* at 490, 597 S.E.2d at 893. This Court disagreed:

The evidence adduced at trial indicated [minor] sustained her devastating injury on Saturday, July 15, and that it had to have occurred within several hours of her first CAT . . . During this time period, Smith and [Durant] were the only two persons with [minor] who could have possibly caused her injury. [Durant] told investigators she was with [minor] the whole time and, in his statement to investigators, Smith referred to all of their actions that day as “we,” never indicating a time when he and [Durant] were not together during that weekend.

Id. In addition, the Court noted that the injuries to minor would have been readily apparent to Smith.

“The statute makes clear that child abuse may be committed by either an act or an omission which causes harm to a child's physical health.” Accordingly, this Court held that there was substantial circumstantial evidence that Smith inflicted or allowed to be inflicted the physical harm that resulted in minor’s death. *Id.* at 492, 597 S.E.2d at 894.

In *State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013), the Supreme Court was faced with a circumstance similar to Petitioner’s case, Hepburn and her boyfriend, Lewis, were charged with homicide by child arising out of the death of Hepburn’s 16 month-old child. The State’s evidence showed that Hepburn, Lewis, and Hepburn’s 16 month-old child ate dinner with Hepburn’s mother, the mother’s boyfriend, and Hepburn’s two year old son at around 8:00-8:30 p.m. on the night minor died. 406 S.C. at 419, 753 S.E.2d at 403.

Hepburn put minor to bed at around 9:00 p.m. Hepburn, Lewis, and Hepburn’s two year old son then watched football until 10:00 p.m. Hepburn then put her two year old son to bed. *Id.* She fell asleep reading books to her son. Lewis continued to watch football. Lewis checked on minor at around 11:00 p.m., she appeared fine. Lewis then briefly checked on Hepburn, who was now asleep in her room. *Id.*

After checking on Hepburn, Lewis continued to watch T.V. Lewis checked on minor again at around 1:00 - 1:30 a.m. *Id.* Lewis initially thought minor was asleep, but became concerned when he saw that “she was laying on her stomach with her head on the rails of the crib.” Hepburn awoke to Lewis holding a non-responsive minor in his arms. They called 911.

Doctors treating minor found numerous bruises, retinal hemorrhaging, labored breathing, and overall lack of responsiveness. Doctors soon realized that minor has suffered a subdural hematoma extending from front to the back right side of minor’s brain: *Id.* at 420-421, 753 S.E.2d at 404. Medical experts determined that the injuries were most likely caused by “an

acceleration-deceleration movement . . . or shaken baby syndrome.” *Id.* Minor would not have appeared normal after sustaining these injuries. *Id.*

A chaplain at the hospital would testify that Hepburn and Lewis acted oddly and “they weren’t overly emotional, they seemed collected.” *Id.* at 422, 753 S.E.2d at 405. Lewis and Hepburn were tried together. Both testified and were convicted. Hepburn’s testimony largely “corroborated the State’s case”. By contrast Lewis’ testimony “painted a markedly different version of events” and inferred that Hepburn beat minor on the night before she died because she would not stop crying.

On appeal, the Supreme Court concluded that Hepburn had not waived the right to challenge the sufficiency of the State’s evidence alone. Without the benefit of Lewis’ testimony, the Court held that the “State did not present substantial evidence that Petitioner killed the victim.” Specifically, the Court found that every State’s witness testified Hepburn was asleep at the time that minor sustained the fatal injuries and that the impact of the injuries would have been immediately apparent.

The Court then compared Hepburn’s case to *Smith*:

What separates this case from a case like *Smith* is that every piece of the State’s evidence establishes (1) Petitioner was asleep at the time the victim sustained her injuries, (2) Petitioner was only awoken after Lewis retrieved the unresponsive victim from her crib, and (3) the victim appeared to be acting normally until after Petitioner put the victim to sleep and went to sleep herself. As in *Smith*, medical testimony adduced at trial indicated that the victim would not have appeared “normal” within a short period of time after her injuries were inflicted due to the nature and extent of her neurological injuries. However, there is no evidence that Petitioner herself was aware of the victim’s injuries, let alone caused them. Thus, we find this case distinguishable from *Smith*.

Id. at 423, 753 S.E.2d at 405. In *State v. Lewis*, 416 S.C. 184, 785 S.E.2d 448 (2016), the companion case to *Hepburn*, the Supreme Court granted a directed verdict of acquittal to Lewis

following his conviction for aiding and abetting homicide by child abuse. There the Court held that there was no evidence Lewis instigated or knew in advance that Hepburn was going to abuse minor. *Id.* at 356. 743 S.E.2d at 129-130.

Lastly, in *State v. Palmer*, 413 S.C. 410, 776 S.E.2d 558 (2015), the Supreme Court applied the factors outlined in *Hepburn* to a consolidated appeal by co-defendants' of their convictions for homicide by child abuse, aiding and abetting homicide by child abuse, and unlawful conduct toward a child. Julia Gorman and Robert Palmer were indicted for the death of Gorman's seventeen month old grandson. *Id.* at 412, 776 S.E.2d at 559.

The grandson was removed from life support on July 16. An autopsy revealed that the grandson died as a result of head injuries sustained sometime between July 11 and July 14. *Id.* at 418, 776 S.E.2d at 562. In addition to the skull fractures, there were a number of unexplained, atypical bruises on the grandson. *Id.* Expert medical testimony from the State's witness estimated that the fatal injuries were inflicted within three hours of the grandson's arrival at the emergency room at 6:58 p.m. on July 14.

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