RECEIVED

APR 11 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal from Newberry County
Court of General Sessions
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000431

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

THEIA DARION MCARDLE, PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29649
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner’s Testimony and Statements

Petitioner testified she had never seen Bowman strike or physically harm Victim, but had seen Bowman use “harsh [] words” with him. She also explained Bowman and Victim had their own bathroom on the other side of the house. She was not aware of Victim’s bathing habits and claimed Bowman bathed Victim. (R.p.902, line 5–R.p.903, line 4; R.p.911, line 16–R.p.913, line 1).

Petitioner’s description of December 29th differed in several respects from Bowman’s. That morning, she woke up around 9:00 a.m. and called internet providers in an attempt to obtain internet service for the trailer. She woke up and made breakfast for Victim. Later that morning, she went to a Family Dollar store in Laurens, South Carolina to obtain a prepaid Visa card so she

could pay for various things, including internet installation, in the coming weeks. She, Victim, and Bowman spent the rest of the morning watching movies. After lunch, Petitioner and Bowman argued over finances, an argument which lasted most of the afternoon and crescendoed with Petitioner telling him she no longer loved him. She did not tell Bowman of her plans to leave him, for fear he would damage property in an explosive rage. (R.p.903, line 5–R.p.904, line 2; R.p.906, line 21–R.p.915, line 23)

Victim helped Petitioner prepare dinner, with meal prep beginning around 6:30 p.m. Petitioner, Victim, and Bowman began eating around 7:30 p.m. Petitioner left to get gas around 8:00 p.m., returned briefly around 8:30 p.m. to drop off a stray cat she obtained and immediately left again for an appointment with a prostitution client in Spartanburg. She stayed with the client at least an hour, and returned home sometime before 11:19 p.m. When she entered the trailer, she saw Victim asleep in his bed. She found Bowman asleep in their bed, and demanded he accompany her to her next call because it involved a client and location with which she was unfamiliar. While she freshened up, she ordered Bowman to put Victim in his carseat. She left for her appointment around 11:41 p.m. and arrived at the home in Newberry sometime around 12:30 a.m. Throughout the car ride, Petitioner heard Victim snoring and making other “sleep sounds.” After finishing her appointment, Petitioner returned to the car. Petitioner’s testimony regarding the events from this point onward mirrors Bowman’s. Although she admitted she paid little attention to Victim after her return from Spartanburg, she claimed she did not see any bruising or other indications Victim was injured until she finished her appointment with Holmes, which was sometime around 1:00 a.m. (R.p.916, line 4–R.p.949, line 24).

However, Petitioner’s testimony differed in several respects to the statements she made in the hours after Victim’s death. Immediately after Victim was pronounced dead, Petitioner called

her mother, Patrice McArdle (“Patrice”) and told her she and Bowman were at home when Bowman had found Victim unconscious in his bed and that they believed he had aspirated on his own vomit and died of asphyxiation. (R.p.613, line 6–R.p.614, line 17; R.p.618, lines 1–13; R.p.619, line 3–R.p.620, line 2).

Several hours after her phone call to her mother, Petitioner met with Detective Allison Moore of the Newberry Police Department and SLED Agent Kellie Williams and provided written and oral statements regarding the events leading up to Victim’s death. Notably, Petitioner told the officers: (1) Bowman was “always kind” to Victim and treated him “no different than his own [child]”; (2) she loved Bowman; (3) Petitioner’s first prostitution call of the day occurred near dusk, around 5:00 p.m., after which she returned home and made dinner with Victim’s help; (4) prior to her Newberry prostitution call, she was only away from Victim and her home for approximately an hour and a half to two hours that day; (5) Petitioner, Bowman, and Victim ate around 8:30 p.m.; (6) Victim ate most of his dinner that night; (6) Victim could use the restroom on his own, but she and Bowman would help Victim wipe himself afterwards; (7) she had helped Victim pull down his training diaper and use the bathroom that day; (8) there was “[n]o way in hell” the bruising observed by Detective Moore represented every one of Victim’s injuries; (9) the only time Victim could have received his injuries was on December 27, three days before his death, when Petitioner, Bowman, and Victim visited Patrice and Victim fell while skating; (10) Petitioner had no knowledge of any of Victim’s bruises; and (11) Victim often used her bathroom. (R.p.216, line 14–R.p.220, line 9; R.p.225, line 11; R.p.226, line 16–R.p.255, line 3; R.p.302, line 9–R.p.313, line 3; R.p.317, line 2–R.p.318, line 15; R.p.613, line 6–R.p.614, line 17; R.p.618, lines 1–13; R.p.619, line 3–R.p.620, line 2).

CERTIORARI

Petitioner argues this Court should grant certiorari, but fails to articulate any “special and important” reasons for the Court to do so. Rule 242(b), SCACR states that a writ of certiorari is not a “matter of right,” but should be granted only where special and important reasons merit this Court’s review. In the instant case, Petitioner fails to articulate any “special and important reasons” for this Court to exercise its discretion to grant review of the decision of the Court of Appeals. Indeed, the Court of Appeals’ decision was a straightforward exercise of reviewing and affirming the trial court’s application of established precedent, logic, and practical consideration of the particular facts and circumstances of Petitioner’s case. Thus, the State respectfully requests that Petitioner’s petition for a writ of certiorari be denied and dismissed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. Id. When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477-478 (2004). “If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” Id. (emphasis added). A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal when the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, reveals direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove Petitioner's guilt of homicide by child abuse.

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in affirming her conviction because the trial judge improperly denied her motion for a directed verdict. The State disagrees with this allegation of error; the State provided both direct and substantial circumstantial evidence of Petitioner's guilt through Bowman's testimony and the evidence of Petitioner's statements to Patrice and law enforcement in the hours after Victim's death.

Homicide by Child Abuse in South Carolina

In relevant part, section 16-3-85 of the South Carolina Code provides:

(A) A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person:
(1) causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life; .
...

(B) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:
(1) "child abuse or neglect" means an act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child's physical health or welfare;
(2) "harm" to a child's health or welfare occurs when a person:
(a) inflicts or allows to be inflicted upon the child physical injury, including injuries sustained as a result of excessive corporal punishment. . . .

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85 (2015).

In State v. Smith, 359 S.C. 481, 597 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004), two codefendants were convicted of homicide by child abuse and aiding and abetting that offense when a twenty-month-old child died from abusive head trauma which occurred during a weekend getaway in which both codefendants, the victim's mother and her boyfriend, Smith, were with the child the entire

weekend. Id. at 490–92, 597 S.E.2d at 893–94. On appeal, Smith argued he was entitled to a directed verdict on his charges because the State’s circumstantial evidence showed, at best, only his mere presence at the crime scene. Id. at 490, 597 S.E.2d at 893. This Court disagreed, finding: (1) the evidence showed the two defendants were with the child during the period in which she suffered her fatal injuries; (2) the victim suffered more than one blow to the head with sufficient force to fracture her skull; (3) the physical symptoms corresponding to Victim’s severe injuries would have been obvious; and (4) there was evidence of a probable cover-up. Id. at 491–92, 597 S.E.2d at 894.

State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013), involved a similar situation in which the codefendants, a mother and her boyfriend, were convicted of homicide by child abuse in the death of the mother’s daughter. Id. at 418, 753 S.E.2d at 403. Distinguishing the case from Smith, the Supreme Court of South Carolina found the trial judge erred in failing to grant the defendant’s motion for a directed verdict because “every piece of the State’s evidence”² established: (1) Hepburn was asleep at the time the victim sustained her injuries; (2) Hepburn was only awoken when the codefendant retrieved the unresponsive child from her crib; and (3) the victim appeared normal when Hepburn put the victim to sleep and went to sleep herself. Id. at 442, 753 S.E.2d at 415–16. These facts, considered in tandem with the undisputed medical testimony which indicated the victim would not have appeared “normal” within a short period of suffering her injuries, meant there was no circumstantial evidence Hepburn caused, or was even aware of, the victim’s injuries. Id.

² Notably, there was some evidence of Hepburn’s guilt. Her codefendant, Lewis, testified in his own defense at trial. His statements implicated Hepburn as the guilty party. Relying on Cephus v. United States, 324 F.2d 893 (D.C.Cir. 1963), the court found Lewis’s testimony could not be considered when ruling on the directed verdict motion because Lewis, who testified not as a State’s witness but as a codefendant in the trial, was not subject to the control of either Hepburn or the State. The court extended this exclusion to Petitioner’s testimony because it was used to rebut Lewis’s testimony, not to challenge the State’s evidence, and because it “add[ed] nothing” to the State’s case. Id. at 430–38, 753 S.E.2d at 409–13.

Similarly, in State v. Palmer, 413 S.C. 410, 776 S.E.2d 558 (2015) the Supreme Court found this Court erred in affirming Palmer's conviction for homicide by child abuse. The State's circumstantial evidence narrowed the window in which the victim, codefendant Julia Gorman's seventeen-month-old grandson, to between 4:00 p.m. and 6:05 p.m. on the day in question. Id. at 420, 776 S.E.2d at 563. The State's evidence placed both defendants at home during the period but did not indicate they were together "at all relevant times" or that Palmer was alone with victim after 3:30 p.m. Id. Moreover, the victim's injuries, severe head trauma including skull fractures and brain swelling, were such that a layperson might not be able to distinguish between the child's symptoms and the behavior of a sleeping child. Id. Accordingly there was "no evidence" justifying the denial of Palmer's motion for a directed verdict. Id.

However, the Court found the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the denial of Gorman's directed verdict motion. Id. The Court noted the State's evidence placed Gorman alone with the victim at 4:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m., and the medical evidence indicated the victim suffered his injuries during one of those two visits. Id. Further, Gorman admitted she mistreated the victim by spanking, shaking, and overdosing him and numerous witnesses testified to her "unusual affect and statement's" following the child's injury. Id.

Analysis

The instant case is distinguishable from Smith, Hepburn, and Palmer in one critical way: here, the State was able to present direct evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Bowman testified Petitioner hit Victim several times during the day, including several stomach punches around lunchtime which caused Victim to fall and hit his head and several blows to Victim's head in the car that afternoon. Bowman also saw Petitioner strike Victim twice before dinner and another

two times after she placed him in his car seat for the Newberry trip, sometime after 11:00 p.m. that night.

Contrary to Petitioner's description of the expert medical testimony, the three experts did not claim the earliest time of death of Victim was 10:35 p.m. Rather, they testified: (1) they could not determine the exact time of death, which could have occurred some period of time before Victim ever reached the hospital; (2) Victim suffered multiple blows to the head, over a brief period or possibly stretched over the course of numerous hours, and any one of those blows or combination thereof could have caused the injuries which ultimately killed him; (3) the subdural hematoma did not form instantly, but pooled over some period of time, and after forming could have taken an additional period of time, minutes to hours, to cause the cessation of Victim's respiration processes; and (4) Victim's vomiting, whether caused by the head injuries or the ruptured small intestine or the combination thereof, took place around dinner time, as evidenced by the presence of undigested food. Dr. Ross opined Victim could have been healthy enough to eat dinner as early as 5:00 p.m. Thus, the medical evidence indicated some or all of Victim's head injuries may have occurred throughout the day of December 29, 2014. This open timeframe is wholly consistent with the abuse witnessed by Bowman.

Moreover, even without Bowman's testimony, Petitioner's statements to her mother and law enforcement in the hours after Victim's death provided circumstantial evidence of her guilt. In the instant case, Petitioner told Patrice she and Bowman were at home when they discovered Victim unconscious in his bed, covered in his own vomit. This indicates that Petitioner was around Victim at the time he received at least some of his substantial injuries, ones serious enough to stop his ability to digest food, and was aware of his condition before she and Bowman took Victim to Newberry. Moreover, in her statements to law enforcement Petitioner claimed

she made her first prostitution call around 5:00 p.m., which only lasted an hour and a half. She then returned home and made dinner with Victim's help while Bowman was in another room. Petitioner was present when Victim ate dinner and did not leave the home until she made her late night trip to Newberry with Bowman and Victim in tow. Similar to Smith and Palmer, the circumstantial evidence establishes Petitioner was with Victim during the period in which Victim received his final, fatal injury.

As established by Smith, Hepburn, and Palmer, evidence that a defendant was alone with a homicide by child abuse victim during the period the child sustained the fatal injury is enough evidence to justify the denial of a motion for a directed verdict. Here, the State provided both direct and circumstantial evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in refusing to grant Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari and let stand the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court. If the Court grants the petition for a writ of certiorari, Respondent would request permission under the rules to fully brief the issues contained herein..